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          1  VETERANS AND GENERAL WELFARE COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Good

          3  afternoon, everyone. I'm Council Member Hiram

          4  Monserrate, representative of the 21st Council

          5  District in the beautiful Borough of Queens, and we

          6  are convening today a Joint Hearing of both the

          7  Veterans Committee and the General Welfare

          8  Committee, which is chaired by my extremely

          9  distinguished colleague from the great Borough of

         10  Kings, Brooklyn, U.S.A., Bill DeBlasio, who is

         11  immediately to my left, though not always on my

         12  left, I have to say.  Also with us today, let me

         13  take the opportunity now and just introduce some of

         14  my other colleagues who are also very distinguished

         15  in their own rights.  To my immediate right, that's

         16  pretty much on par, Tony Avella from the Borough of

         17  Queens also, and another Queens member that made it

         18  through the snow and the slush and the ice and we

         19  made it from the Borough of Queens here, Council

         20  Member Tom White, also from Queens. Thank you for my

         21  colleagues for being here and to my General Counsel

         22  here, Mr. Gates, and Ms. Murphy, who is General

         23  Counsel to the Committee on General Welfare and

         24  Council Member James, who is a member of the

         25  Veterans Committee was here earlier, but due to some
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          2  other engagements she had to depart.  I just wanted

          3  to let folks know that Council Member James from

          4  Brooklyn was here.

          5                 And today we are having an

          6  interesting hearing oversight on the issue of the

          7  Military Veterans Housing Agreement between the

          8  Department of Homeless Services and the United

          9  States Department of Veterans Affairs.  Currently,

         10  there are well over 300,000 military veterans living

         11  in the City of New York, Council Member Monserrate

         12  is one of them.  There are also thousands of City

         13  residents serving in Iraq, Afghanistan and in other

         14  assignments throughout the World.

         15                 As of May, 2006, the United States

         16  Veterans Administration estimates that there may be

         17  as many as 12,000 homeless veterans living in New

         18  York City.  Veterans returning home from active duty

         19  often face numerous problems during their transition

         20  back into civilian life which place them at risk for

         21  homelessness.  For example, many veterans live with

         22  the lingering effects of post- traumatic stress

         23  disorder, struggle with addiction and lack of

         24  financial and other resources of support.

         25                 New York City also has one of the
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          2  most expensive housing markets in the country, which

          3  compounds the housing dilemma for our returning

          4  vets.  On December 21, 2006 the New York City

          5  Department of Homeless Services and the United

          6  States Veterans Administration entered into an

          7  agreement to help end veteran homelessness within

          8  the City.

          9                 According to the plan, the VA and

         10  DHS, the Department for Homeless Services, have

         11  established a task force and will place 100 veterans

         12  in permanent housing within 100 days of the

         13  agreement's execution.  The Veterans Committee and

         14  the Committee on General Welfare would like to learn

         15  more about the VA/DHS agreement, including how the

         16  plan is progressing.  The Committees have invited

         17  the Department of Homeless Services and the United

         18  States Department of Veterans Affairs to testify

         19  today.

         20                 We also will be hearing this

         21  afternoon from many of our veteran advocates,

         22  support groups, and vets themselves.  So we look

         23  forward to a very enriching hearing today and I want

         24  to allow, give the opportunity to my colleague, the

         25  Chair of the General Welfare Committee to give some
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          2  opening remarks but before he does that, I want to

          3  just acknowledge that Council Member Nelson, also a

          4  member of the Veterans Committee and from the

          5  Borough of Brooklyn is here today.

          6                 Council Member Bill DeBlasio.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair.  I want to, first of all, thank you and give

          9  credit where credit is due. You, I think, have

         10  really tried to do oversight the way it's supposed

         11  to be done.  It was your idea to hold this hearing

         12  to look at something that is very much good news but

         13  to make sure that it actually worked on the ground

         14  and worked to serve our veterans and I appreciate

         15  the initiative you took on that.  I also think you

         16  mentioned, modestly, you're a former member of our

         17  armed forces and, obviously, you're a former police

         18  officer as well and I think you deserve a lot of

         19  credit for having brought those experiences in to

         20  elected office and this is an example of you using

         21  that history to help everyone.  I appreciate that

         22  very much.

         23                 I thank your staff of this Committee,

         24  Harold Gates and Joan Povolny, and of course, the

         25  staff of the General Welfare Committee, Molly
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          2  Murphy, Freya Riel for their good work on this and

          3  all of our colleagues.

          4                 I just want to say that I think this

          5  hearing is important, not only because it looks at

          6  the specific progress we're making in terms of

          7  trying to serve our veterans who have been homeless

          8  but it also puts in perspective one piece of the

          9  overall homelessness problem, and I dare say

         10  homelessness crisis.  I've often praised the

         11  Commissioner and the Mayor for having made a public

         12  commitment to try to reduce our shelter population

         13  by 2/3 by the end of the Mayor's term.  I think

         14  that's a powerful and important commitment and the

         15  Commissioner and I speak often about it and it's not

         16  an easy commitment to achieve, but that makes it all

         17  the more noble that they put it out there.

         18                 This approach to trying to help our

         19  veterans is an important building block, I think, in

         20  terms of achieving that overall goal.  You know, we

         21  all can say, sort of, the cliche, that it's a

         22  particular concern or particular tragedy when so

         23  many of our veterans end up on the street.  These

         24  numbers just are astounding. If I understand the

         25  recent data from the Federal Department of Veterans
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          2  Affairs, approximately 33% of the U.S. Adult

          3  homeless population last year were people who had

          4  served at one point or another in the armed forces.

          5  It is just an extremely disproportionate figure.  It

          6  begs so many questions about what we're doing to

          7  help these men and women in their time in the

          8  military service and after.  There's also an

          9  estimate from the Department of over 200,000

         10  veterans nationwide living either on the street or

         11  in shelter.  These are very, very troubling numbers

         12  and anything and everything we can do to reverse

         13  that, both locally and federally, we need to do.

         14                 Again, thank you to the Commissioner

         15  and the Mayor and the whole Administration and,

         16  obviously to the VA as well, for the announcement

         17  you made on December 21st.  We look forward today to

         18  understanding exactly how your new effort is going

         19  work and how you're going to make it work on the

         20  aggressive timeline that you've set and, as always,

         21  we do want to hear an articulation of how this fits

         22  in to your overall strategy of trying to reduce the

         23  population in shelter by 2/3 by the end of 2009.

         24  And again, thank you very much, and Mr. Chair for

         25  organizing this hearing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you for

          3  joining us today and bringing the weight of your

          4  Committee also to this issue. It's an extremely

          5  important issue to our New York veterans.  Before we

          6  hear testimony let me just remind those that are in

          7  the audience, if you wish to testify and provide

          8  some remarks to this Committee, please see the

          9  Sergeant at Arms at the back there, you will fill

         10  out one of these cards, we need to have that

         11  information for the record and to also give you the

         12  opportunity to testify, so please see him at any

         13  point during the hearing if you want to speak.

         14                 And now we will be hearing from the

         15  Commissioner of the Department for Homeless

         16  Services, Commissioner Hess.  So, please begin.

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Thank you.  Good

         18  afternoon, Chairperson Monserrate and Chairperson

         19  DeBlasio and Members of Council.  I am Robert Hess,

         20  the Commissioner of the Department of Homeless

         21  Services for the City of New York.  I want to thank

         22  you for giving me the opportunity to speak to you

         23  today about an issue that is truly close to my

         24  heart, the coordination of services that will help

         25  move veterans who are experiencing homelessness to
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          2  permanent housing as quickly as possible.  Three

          3  months ago, DHS gave testimony before the Veterans

          4  Committee and since that time, the Mayor has

          5  announced a new vision that will dramatically

          6  transform the way we serve homeless veterans in New

          7  York City.

          8                 On December 21, 2006 the Mayor

          9  clarified this new position when he stated that, "no

         10  veteran, no veteran, should be sleeping on the

         11  streets, or in shelters, in New York City."  That's

         12  our vision.  Through collaboration with a variety of

         13  government and non- profit partners, the City will

         14  help to end veteran homelessness in New York City.

         15  This new vision makes the City and the Federal

         16  government morally accountable to those dedicated

         17  men and women who have risked their lives in service

         18  to their country.  As a military veteran, I can

         19  assure you that I will not rest until the last

         20  homeless veteran has been moved into a home of his

         21  or her own.

         22                 I'd like to begin my testimony with a

         23  story of a gentleman whose life has been radically

         24  transformed as a result of newly announced

         25  initiatives.  I'll call him "Mr. H."  He's a 50 year
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          2  old African American male and a veteran of the

          3  United States Army.  Mr. H. initially entered

          4  shelter in 1987.  1987, some 30 years ago.  He has

          5  been cycling in and out of our shelter system since

          6  that time.  In total, Mr. H has spent 6,288 days in

          7  shelter. In between his shelter stays, Mr. H lived

          8  on the streets of our great City and would sometimes

          9  stay in the hotels located around the Bowery.  He

         10  has a long history of drug and alcohol abuse,

         11  although he has been clean and sober since 2003.

         12  More than four years.  Initially, Mr. H was very

         13  anxious about moving into a home of his own.  His

         14  case worker patiently engaged him and eventually,

         15  Mr. H started attending housing appointments and

         16  after they were rescheduled as to not conflict with

         17  his WEP job assignment, which he didn't want to

         18  miss.  He was also concerned that he be able to

         19  continue his WEP assignment after he moved into

         20  permanent housing. After ongoing work with his case

         21  manager, Mr. H moved into supportive housing

         22  provided by New Era Veterans on January 11th of this

         23  year, after 30 years in and out of our shelter

         24  system.  Today, he is successfully living in his own

         25  home.
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          2                 The foregoing example illustrates how

          3  housing and supportive services can instantaneously

          4  transform these veterans lives.  To that end, we

          5  must challenge ourselves to think differently and to

          6  create new systems which address the complex needs

          7  of sailors and soldiers and airmen and marines

          8  returning home.  I am confident that this historic

          9  initiative between the City and DHS and U.S.

         10  Department of Veterans Affairs will achieve just

         11  that vision.

         12                 On December 21st, 2006, Mayor Michael

         13  Bloomberg, U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

         14  Secretary Jim Nicholson and I announced an agreement

         15  to help end veterans homelessness in our City.  To

         16  accomplish this goal, we have convened a task force

         17  that will report back in 90 days with a strategic

         18  plan to move toward the ending of veteran

         19  homelessness in our City.  But because every second

         20  counts for these veterans, DHS has jump started this

         21  important work, linking 100 veterans with permanent

         22  housing and opening safe haven beds as an

         23  alternative to shelter for chronically homeless

         24  veterans living on our streets.

         25                 The task force will make its
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          2  recommendations to the Mayor and the VA Secretary as

          3  to how to best achieve the above stated vision of

          4  ending veteran homelessness in our City.  To

          5  formulate these recommendations, the task force is

          6  examining all facets of how veterans are currently

          7  served in our City.  From street outreach, to

          8  intake, to temporary and permanent housing options,

          9  specifically, the task force is considering new

         10  protocols and standards for a new joint outreach

         11  teams.  These joint outreach efforts will, for the

         12  first time, include VA staff that can assist with

         13  the issues that are unique to our veterans.  A new

         14  homeless intake center for exclusive use of veterans

         15  is being considered. As you know, currently, single

         16  men that enter the shelter system must enter through

         17  30th Street facility in Manhattan and women must

         18  enter through one of three different intake points

         19  in the Bronx, Queens and Brooklyn.  Recognizing that

         20  veterans have unique issues that have caused them to

         21  experience the crisis of homelessness, the

         22  collaborative is contemplating a new intake center

         23  with front door services to better serve our

         24  veteran's needs.

         25                 They're also exploring expanded
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          2  options to end street homelessness for veterans.

          3  The task force will assess the current temporary and

          4  permanent housing options in New York and determine

          5  the need for additional safe havens and other low

          6  threshold safe alternatives to living on the street.

          7    The VA has committed to provide additional

          8  healthcare, mental health treatment, substance abuse

          9  treatment for eligible veterans and permanent and

         10  supportive housing.  The task force will also

         11  develop an evaluation model to measure the

         12  effectiveness of any of our new programs and

         13  strategies.

         14                 The task force combines the expertise

         15  and intelligence of various players from government

         16  and the community and speaks the enormous thought

         17  and attention that's being given to this important

         18  issue.  The task force is being co- chaired by James

         19  Farcetta, VA New York/New Jersey Network Director

         20  and me.  On the City level, the task force includes

         21  representatives from DHS, the Human Resources

         22  Administration, the Department of Corrections,

         23  Corporation Counsel, the Department of Health and

         24  Mental Hygiene and Special Counsel to the Mayor.  On

         25  the State and Federal levels, the task force
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          2  includes the NYS Division of Veterans Affairs, HUD,

          3  the NY State Council of Veterans Organizations, the

          4  VA Regional Office, the VA Director of Homeless

          5  Programs, the VA Medical Center Director, the NYS

          6  Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance. From

          7  the not- for- profit community, the task force

          8  includes Major John Hodgson, Secretary for Programs

          9  of the Salvation Army; Roseanne Haggerty, the

         10  President of Common Ground; Larry Belinsky,

         11  President and CEO of HELP USA; Nan Roman, the

         12  President and CEO of the National Alliance to End

         13  Homelessness; Richard Pruss, the Executive Director

         14  of Samaritan Village; Joseph Weisbord, the Director

         15  of Homelessness Initiative for Fannie Mae; Job

         16  Mashariki, I probably got that one wrong, OK, thank

         17  you, the President and CEO of Black Veterans for

         18  Social Justice; John Laguna, President and CEO of

         19  New Era Veterans as well as Richard Motta, President

         20  and CEO of Volunteers of America.

         21                 Realizing that it would take the task

         22  force 90 days to make recommendations to the Mayor

         23  and VA Secretary, the City has taken other steps

         24  during this period to fulfill the vision articulated

         25  by the Mayor and the VA Secretary in December,
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          2  including "Project Welcome Home" and the opening of

          3  safe havens.

          4                 Under "Project Welcome Home", the

          5  City will place 100 veterans into permanent housing

          6  in the first 100 days.  DHS has targeted veterans

          7  residing at the Borden Avenue Veterans Shelter and

          8  Camp LaGuardia for this initiative.  Committing to

          9  move 100 veterans into permanent housing, many of

         10  whom have been long- term stayers in our shelter

         11  system, and this is no easy feat.  It requires us to

         12  identify the barriers to placement, locate

         13  appropriate housing options, and work with the

         14  veterans to overcome their barriers so that they can

         15  become comfortable with their new placements.

         16                 As of today, a little more than

         17  halfway through the 100- day period, we have moved

         18  70 veterans, 70 veterans, into permanent housing.

         19  This success reflects the agency's passion on this

         20  issue; we have already accomplished 70% of our

         21  initial goal. This goal could not have been

         22  accomplished without the hard work of the shelter

         23  providers, the Salvation Army and Volunteers of

         24  America, and permanent housing providers, including

         25  Black Veterans for Social Justice and New Era
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          2  Veterans.  Our veterans are moving into a number of

          3  different types of housing options depending on

          4  their individual needs, including supportive

          5  housing, independent living, reunification with

          6  family members and long- term residential treatment

          7  programs.

          8                 In December of 2006, DHS opened the

          9  first of our safe havens in New York City, run by

         10  the Bowery Residents' Committee.  Safe havens are

         11  low- threshold alternatives to shelter system

         12  designed to serve chronically homeless individuals.

         13  Since opening the safe haven, 25 percent of the

         14  clients that the BRC has served have been veterans.

         15                 The last time DHS testified before

         16  you, there were many questions about what we know

         17  about homeless veterans in the New York City area.

         18  While we provided you with the number of shelter

         19  clients that self- reported as veterans in our adult

         20  shelter system, we understand the number of homeless

         21  veterans in New York City exceeds that number.

         22                 After looking further into the

         23  homeless veterans currently in our system, we can

         24  share with you some additional information.  On

         25  January 31, 2007, DHS had 774 self- reporting
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          2  veterans in our adult shelter system out of 7,441

          3  single adults. Stated another way, as of the end of

          4  January, approximately 10 percent of the homeless

          5  individuals in our adult shelter system self-

          6  identified as veterans.  We also know that veterans

          7  in our shelter system tend to stay longer than non-

          8  veterans.  The average length of stay for veterans

          9  in our shelter system is 726 nights, compared to an

         10  average of 513 nights for non- veterans.  As part of

         11  the new initiatives between DHS and the VA, we are

         12  working on a data match to verify these numbers and

         13  understand which of our clients are currently

         14  receiving benefits from the VA.

         15                 As I testify before you today, I am

         16  proud to serve the Bloomberg Administration and this

         17  great City that has an unmatched dedication to

         18  serving our homeless veterans.  The bottom line is

         19  that we cannot rest until each man and woman who has

         20  so bravely served our country is welcomed back as a

         21  hero.  With our conscience as our guide, we must

         22  secure stability for returning soldiers, sailors,

         23  airmen and marines in a similar manner to which they

         24  bravely fought for ours abroad.  I look forward to

         25  fully realizing the recommendations of the task
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          2  force.  In the meantime, my agency will continue to

          3  move veterans into permanent housing and link them

          4  to services that move them off the street as quickly

          5  as possible.

          6                 Again, I'd like to thank Council for

          7  the opportunity to be here today.  I am happy to

          8  answer any questions you might have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         10  very much, Commissioner, for your testimony and

         11  participation.  Myself and several of my colleagues

         12  have some questions.  I want to first recognize the

         13  presence of another member of the Council.  Council

         14  Member Jessica Lappin, who's joining us today.  Let

         15  me, first and foremost, go right into the

         16  questioning.  That is the issue of identifying the

         17  veterans and how many veterans that are homeless in

         18  our City.  Now, according to some of the statistics

         19  that we see from the VA, I think they estimate that

         20  the number is as high as about 12,000 and do you

         21  have any estimates as, I know that in your testimony

         22  you said that there were a little over 700 or 10% of

         23  the population of the shelter system in our City are

         24  self- identified, but, do you have any other data

         25  that might give us a better understanding at least
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          2  from the perspective of your agency in our City

          3  regarding homeless veterans in our City.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS: At this point, Mr.

          5  Chairperson, I do not.  What we do with folks that

          6  come in to our shelter system is to ask folks to

          7  self- report.  Having said that, we are eager, as I

          8  know the Committee is, to better understand the

          9  number of veterans that are actually in our shelter

         10  system and on our streets, and, in fact, we are

         11  confident that the 10% self- report number is low.

         12  As you point out, there are national estimates as

         13  high as about 1/3 of people experiencing

         14  homelessness in the adult system across the country

         15  may well be veterans, so we'd like to have a much

         16  better handle on that and, therefore, one of the

         17  tasks of the task force has been to work between the

         18  VA and DHS to figure out how to do the kinds of data

         19  matches that will give us much more accurate

         20  information and that's on the folks that are in

         21  shelter side.  Let me also say to you that as we sit

         22  here today, we are under aggressive development of

         23  new handheld technology that we will be rolling out

         24  on our streets with outreach teams this Summer that

         25  will give us a lot more information and accurate
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          2  information that we'll be able to compile about

          3  folks living on our streets and so, we share your

          4  concern over obtaining this kind of information and

          5  we're working closely with the VA through the task

          6  force work and through, in house, to create our own

          7  technology that we'll be able to use on our streets

          8  as early as this Summer that will begin to capture

          9  and better answer those questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.  And,

         11  by the way, do you know how the VA gets that data?

         12  The VA, the estimate?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HESS: The VA is probably

         14  better to speak to that, but I can just tell you

         15  from experience, my sense is that the VA has the

         16  ability to go back and kind of verify veteran status

         17  through military records.  And so, that's probably

         18  the most accurate way to do it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Tell me a

         20  little bit more about this technology that you're

         21  going to be implementing.  I know that earlier this

         22  year there was communication from myself and some of

         23  my colleagues to your Agency regarding your yearly

         24  count of the homeless and ensuring that we have a

         25  category in that count that specifically asked the
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          2  question, "Are you a veteran?"  I was wondering if

          3  that's going to be looked at as we go into the

          4  future as a policy, permanent policy, and if you're

          5  going to implement that into your technology of

          6  outreach teams?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We will include

          8  that in the technology for outreach teams as part of

          9  the regular data that we'll want to collect and

         10  admittedly, that's going to be self reported

         11  initially as well, and to the extent that we're then

         12  able to gather specific information concerning

         13  people living on the streets and do the data matches

         14  with the VA, we'll be able to confirm that

         15  information and make sure it's accurate.  So, that's

         16  kind of one piece.

         17                 With respect to your request, which I

         18  appreciated, to kind of jump start that by

         19  incorporating the question into our annual hope

         20  count, we wanted to do that, and we took a look to

         21  see if there was a way we could do it in a

         22  statistically reliable way, and it turned out that

         23  we couldn't.  And the reason is, as you may realize,

         24  is that the hope count is conducted from midnight to

         25  four AM.  Our objective during that count with the
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          2  over 2,000 volunteers across the five Boroughs of

          3  the City is to identify people that are experiencing

          4  homelessness on our streets.

          5                 We specifically, given the

          6  methodology of it, don't collect specific survey

          7  information from those folks, because we then have

          8  to do an estimate of the number of people on the

          9  street based upon who we find, and frankly, who we

         10  don't find.  We're the only City in the country, you

         11  may know, that actually uses decoys from Columbia

         12  University and if we find, say, 70% of the decoys,

         13  we can assume that we found approximately 70% of the

         14  individuals experiencing homelessness on the streets

         15  that night.

         16                 And so, there is a methodology to

         17  this that prevents us from asking specific questions

         18  and then taking those answers and having those

         19  answers have any statistical validity when you roll

         20  them out across the City.  So, that's a long winded

         21  way of saying, had we asked that question, first of

         22  all, we would have been waking people up in some

         23  cases to try to get an answer, maybe would have

         24  gotten a right answer, maybe we wouldn't have, and

         25  there was no way to reliably use that data from the
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          2  count.  But your idea was a good one, we felt, so

          3  we're going to incorporate that into the regular

          4  data that we're able to collect through outreach

          5  work given the new technology we'll roll out this

          6  Summer.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: All right.  I

          8  still have some questions regarding that then.  When

          9  you do the Operation Hope count, are you saying that

         10  some of the homeless that are put into the count are

         11  never interviewed per se?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS: The extent of the

         13  interview  --            CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:

         14  Tell us about the interview.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HESS: The extent of the

         16  interview is to determine where did they sleep last

         17  night, where are they going to sleep tonight?  Are

         18  they homeless and sleep on our streets.  And it's

         19  really that brief.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Do you ask

         21  them their names?

         22  Do we ask any pedigree information?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We don't ask

         24  specific information or record specific data about

         25  the individual.  We're only trying to determine
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          2  whether they're experiencing homelessness on our

          3  streets that night.  Now, separate and apart from

          4  that, our outreach teams are on the street all the

          5  time collecting information.  We just want to

          6  centralize the information that our outreach teams

          7  are collecting in a way that's useful to us for

          8  things like this purpose, determining how many

          9  veterans are on our streets.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I understand

         11  and appreciate, I just want to have a better

         12  understanding of Operation Hope.  So, basically,

         13  where did you sleep last night and where are you

         14  sleeping tonight?  Is that the extent?

         15                 COMMISSIONER HESS: That's pretty much

         16  it in terms of recorded data.  We're making one

         17  determination only.  Are you homeless and sleep on

         18  our streets the night of the count?  In this case it

         19  was January 29th.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Is there a

         21  form that you use?  A survey form?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HESS: There is a form.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.

         24                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Teams go out in

         25  pairs.  They have contact information that they
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          2  collect, they try to determine were they in their

          3  catchment area where they were supposed to be, did

          4  they find someone experiencing homelessness, did

          5  they find someone who's a decoy?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: But they

          7  wouldn't know they were a decoy.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I'm sorry?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: The surveyors

         10  wouldn't know if it was a decoy or not.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Yes, if they find

         12  a decoy, my daughter was a decoy so I got all the

         13  information on this when she got home.  She was

         14  actually found at 2nd and Houston I'm happy to say

         15  in the first 55 minutes of the count I'm even

         16  happier to say. Her mother was glad she got home

         17  early.  But, decoys when they're found, what they're

         18  supposed to do is identify themselves as a decoy.

         19   "You got me."  This isn't a secret.  The idea is to

         20  go out and do a count in a way in a way where we can

         21  determine who we found and who we didn't find,

         22  record that information, turn that all in in a way

         23  that is statistically reliable.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.  I

         25  don't want to beat a dead horse, but I have a good
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          2  understanding.  Do you categorize gender in this

          3  count, or it's completely...

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I believe, no, or

          5  we do?  We'll get you a copy of the survey form.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That would be

          7  good.  If we saw a copy of the actual survey.  So we

          8  have a better understanding of what the questions

          9  that are actually being asked.

         10                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Even, it can be

         11  complicated, but yes, we'll get you a copy.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Right.  Let

         13  me just say that, you know, I understand and I have

         14  respect for your response. I think that we could

         15  probably still, it would probably still be useful

         16  to, even under those circumstances, it would

         17  probably still be useful to question whether there

         18  was service, that they served, or that they were

         19  vets but past Operation Hope, does your agency do

         20  these counts during the year at other times?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We conduct a

         22  Citywide count once per year.  This year it was on

         23  January 29th.  We do do some other targeted area

         24  counts periodically just to get a sense of how we're

         25  doing in a particular area.  It's not a Citywide
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          2  count by any means, we do that once a year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: How do you do

          4  that count?

          5                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Well, we may take

          6  an area, for example, there's one catchment area,

          7  it's a 250 square block area in West Midtown that we

          8  created a special initiative in.  That special

          9  initiative was done with Common Ground.  It was done

         10  to determine the number of chronically homeless

         11  individuals living in that 250 square block area.

         12  We identified 25 chronically homeless individuals,

         13  long- term street stayers, staying in that area.  We

         14  worked with Common Ground to move those folks into

         15  housing from mid- Summer into early Fall.  It was a

         16  60 or 90 day initiative.  90 days?  90 day

         17  initiative.  Common Ground moved those 25 identified

         18  chronically homeless individuals off the street into

         19  permanent housing.  It turned out that those 25

         20  individuals had been on the streets of this City for

         21  an average of 14 1/2 years.  And now they're in

         22  housing.  So, from time to time, we do do specific

         23  targeted initiatives and we will do some surveys,

         24  not dissimilar from a count, to see how we're doing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.  Thank
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          2  you.  I'm going to turn over the microphone to my

          3  colleagues who have a series of questions.  I just

          4  want to make really a statement regarding this whole

          5  issue of the count.  First of all, I want to say

          6  publicly, I have appreciation for the Mayor and the

          7  Mayors in the recent Administrations decision

          8  regarding the 100 vets in 100 days program.  I think

          9  it was an important first step of many steps that we

         10  need to take not only to deal the issue of

         11  homelessness in the veteran community but also with

         12  the last of services and resources that we direct

         13  towards those who have served our nation in this,

         14  the greatest City on Earth.

         15                 Having said that, I think that I

         16  would look forward to continuing to have dialogue

         17  with your Agency regarding those counts, because I

         18  think that when we look at statistics from the

         19  Federal government that says that there's

         20  approximately 12,000 homeless veterans in New York

         21  City and then when the Agency that deals with

         22  homelessness in our City says that we have self

         23  identified about 700 or, there's a huge disparity.

         24  I'm concerned, I have concerns, and I know you share

         25  this concern, I don't doubt that you share this
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          2  concern for one moment, that we need to really

          3  reconcile those numbers and response.

          4                 So, I'm going to pass the mike over

          5  Council Member Bill DeBlasio, Chair of General

          6  Welfare.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you very

          8  much.  You know, Commissioner, I did not know you,

          9  yourself, were, was a veteran and I appreciate,

         10  really, the sense of personal responsibility I hear

         11  from you when it comes to this issue.  I have a

         12  personal vantage point of my own.  I did not know

         13  when I was a young child that I was growing up with

         14  a disabled veteran in my home.  It was my father.  I

         15  never thought of him that way.  He served in the

         16  Pacific during World War II and had part of his leg,

         17  he lost part of his leg on Okinawa, the Battle of

         18  Okinawa and I saw every day of my life as a child

         19  him grappling with that in a time when our

         20  understanding of disabilities, our understanding of

         21  how we support our veterans, etc. was very, very

         22  different.  And I don't think as a general rule as a

         23  society, we've ever taken responsibility for helping

         24  our veterans, so I appreciate that you, it's very

         25  personal, I can tell, and you've reached this
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          2  particular office at this moment and you're actually

          3  putting yourself and your Agency on the line to get

          4  something done.

          5                 I just further editorialize as kind

          6  of ironic that the guys and women who are actually

          7  fighting right now can't get body armor and things

          8  like that.  That's an amazing backdrop to the fact

          9  that we're still also talking about how to serve the

         10  people who have come home and are facing so many

         11  challenges.

         12                 And I also wanted to say one other

         13  thing about you. I do appreciate very much, you've

         14  made a lot of time available to Council Members.

         15  I've seen it myself to talk about issues in their

         16  communities and I appreciate that.  That's not

         17  always been the case with every Commissioner who's

         18  come down the road in any Agency and I really do

         19  appreciate that that's something you obviously made

         20  a priority.

         21                 Let's talk about preventing the

         22  problem before it happens a little more because you

         23  and I have talked about this a lot in general.  I

         24  think this Administration has moved towards

         25  homelessness prevention.  I would have liked to have
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          2  seen more and sooner, but I'm glad it's happening, I

          3  know there's more in the budget this time for it.

          4  You and I have talked about how much that is.  Is

          5  that enough?  But how can we particularly target

          6  veterans to stop homelessness before it starts among

          7  veterans?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Well, Mr. Chair, a

          9  couple of points.  You're right, it is in my case

         10  personal.  I am a lifetime member of the Disabled

         11  American Veterans, as your father was.  I don't

         12  think that any veteran should have to enter a

         13  shelter system.

         14                 In fact, I know that in my case, when

         15  I left military service, without probably $100 in my

         16  pocket, I was able to get a college education and

         17  buy my first house because there was something

         18  called the GI Bill.  The GI Bill that doesn't exist

         19  anymore.  And that's one of the great tragedies in

         20  this country.  We have stripped the safety net away

         21  from those who have served our country.  And I think

         22  as a nation, we are worse off for it.  And part of

         23  the way, part of the effect of that, has been that

         24  thousands of veterans across our country, whatever

         25  the number is, and one is too many, walk our streets

                                                            33

          1  VETERANS AND GENERAL WELFARE COMMITTEES

          2  and sleep in our shelters.  And none of us, none of

          3  us, should accept that.

          4                 I think the best prevention, frankly,

          5  would be to have Federal policy that goes back to

          6  the GI Bill.  It was good enough for me, it was

          7  probably good enough for your father, it's good

          8  enough for the men and women that put their lives on

          9  the line for the veterans of this nation today.  And

         10  that's an editorial comment that I'm probably not

         11  entitled to but I appreciate you allowing me to make

         12  it.

         13                 That said, the work of the task force

         14  is to figure out how do we move from a system where

         15  the point of entry for our veterans is to enter a

         16  shelter system, and create a different point of

         17  entry, so the veterans that need support never have

         18  to come into our shelter system and those that are

         19  in it, we can get out.  And help move quickly into

         20  permanent housing with whatever supports that they

         21  need.  That is the work of the task force, it seems

         22  to me.  Now, I'm not going to presume what

         23  recommendations they will make, they're halfway

         24  through they're work.  We'll let them do that work.

         25  The recommendations will go to the Mayor and the VA
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          2  Secretary and then we'll have more say about those

          3  recommendations and how they're going to be placed

          4  into effect. But I'm very clear that when I heard

          5  the Mayor and the VA Secretary say that we need to

          6  create a system that keeps any of our veterans from

          7  having to enter our shelter system to get housing or

          8  services, and we ought to help move our veterans,

          9  whether it's 700 or 2,000, who knows, out of our

         10  shelter system into permanent housing, that that's

         11  our job and that's our role.  The task force will

         12  finish it's work.  We will implement those

         13  recommendations, and we will realize that vision and

         14  to me that's the best prevention that we can do

         15  until we see the Federal government meet its

         16  obligations with respect to our veterans and respect

         17  the things like we benefitted from under the GI

         18  Bill.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Well, I want to

         20  commend your editorial comment and appreciate it.  I

         21  think you have every right to say that.  But I want

         22  to just push hard on this prevention plan. I hear

         23  you there's a task force and I know that that's

         24  worthy of respect.

         25                 But It seems to me, and I have to say
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          2  the basis for belief in prevention is both about

          3  humanity because it is so much better for an

          4  individual or family not to become homeless, not to

          5  go through the shelter system, not to go through

          6  dislocation, etc. Etc.  And, by the way, any

          7  taxpayer was here and wanted to see why it was in

          8  their interest, too, to focus on prevention it would

          9  be because the cost of prevention, after the human

         10  cost, the cost of prevention is so much less than

         11  the cost of shelter, and so it's a direction that

         12  makes sense at every level and yet I feel like we're

         13  moving more and more toward it, and I appreciate it,

         14  but I don't feel like we're necessarily moving

         15  aggressively enough, particularly given that number

         16  you're trying to hit, that 2/3 reduction.

         17                 And as you and I have talked about, I

         18  think it's all the more difficult in an environment

         19  where housing costs are skyrocketing.  I've got to

         20  believe that's  --  I don't envy you having come

         21  into this position, trying to achieve that very

         22  noble goal and then having this huge objective

         23  factor working against you every day of our housing

         24  market just changing before our very eyes all the

         25  time.  And a lot of our vets, and particularly a lot
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          2  of our vets who are depending on any kind of Federal

          3  support, our disabled vets and others, I don't think

          4  that that support is keeping up with the reality of

          5  our economic situation.

          6                 So, what I'm asking again is, what

          7  are we doing now, way beyond the task force

          8  notwithstanding, what are we doing to focus on

          9  veterans we can stop from homelessness, not just

         10  because they show up at the door of the shelter and

         11  maybe we can redirect, but what are we doing in the

         12  community with Job Mashariki and Black Vets for

         13  Social Justice and so many other organizations to

         14  identify veterans that might be on the brink, get

         15  them the rental subsidy or the anti- eviction legal

         16  aid or whatever it might be and stop the homeless

         17  dynamic before it starts?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Well, Mr.

         19  Chairperson, today, as you know, we have six

         20  homebase sites across the City, all of which now

         21  have been in place about, I guess, going on two

         22  years.  We've increased the funding to those

         23  facilities.  We've actually made available to those

         24  facilities after discussion with our friends at

         25  NYCHA, some Section 8 opportunities, and, we don't
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          2  talk about RFPs on the street, so I won't spend much

          3  time talking about this now, but we do have an RFP

          4  on the street as you know right now that doubles our

          5  prevention program.

          6                 The new programs will be rolled out

          7  and will be completely Citywide with prevention, we

          8  will double the resources made available for

          9  prevention, all within, I would say, about six

         10  months or so, we're encouraged by that.  We do this

         11  based on performance, based on data.  We've looked

         12  at the data from the first two years of operation of

         13  our community based prevention programs.  We like

         14  what we see.  We're doubling it.  We're attaching

         15  some housing subsidies to it.  The message from us

         16  is "if you think you're going to get a Section 8

         17  priority by coming into shelter you're wrong.  You

         18  will not, you will not get a Section 8 priority by

         19  coming into shelter, but if you go to home base in

         20  the community, and you have a need for housing

         21  subsidy, you may well get a priority, so stay in the

         22  community.  Go to homebase."

         23                 And so, we're focused more and more

         24  on prevention, we're doubling our programs, we've

         25  got the RFP out now and we'll continue to evaluate
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          2  and assess the success of that program, and like all

          3  programs, if it continues to show the kind of

          4  success we expect, then we'll continue to expand it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I want to urge

          6  you, I agree with that methodology, I want to urge

          7  you to do that as rapidly as you can.  It seems

          8  like, I think I'm hearing in the answer the fact

          9  that there is true commitment to prevention, there's

         10  not necessarily a focused element right now, focused

         11  on veterans per se, or using veterans organizations

         12  as part of that effort, yet, but that's something

         13  the task force might look at.  But I would just say,

         14  prevention has worked.  It worked before you as the

         15  Administration attempted this current model, it's

         16  working very well with your current model.  I think

         17  one of things you need to look at is specializing it

         18  for some populations where you could reach even more

         19  if you had the right door openers and certainly the

         20  veterans organizations would be a part of that.

         21                 Two other quick questions.  One is,

         22  on safe havens, and I think that sort of follows the

         23  reasoning around prevention because I think this is

         24  a more flexible, lower cost option that might be

         25  able to reach more people.  What's your current plan
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          2  to build that out and use that as another

          3  alternative to shelter?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We have, we opened

          5  the first Safe Haven in New York City dedicated for

          6  direct access by outreach workers for people living

          7  in the streets to be able to come in in early

          8  December.  We have plans that will expand from the

          9  current 19 beds at BRC to 160 Safe Haven beds across

         10  the City by some time in April and we would expect

         11  that by this time next year we will have somewhere

         12  in the neighborhood of 500 beds, Safe Haven beds,

         13  open across the City.  Again, for direct access for

         14  folks coming off the streets.  In some ways, our

         15  best barometer of how many people on the adult side

         16  that are veterans may come from the streets, where

         17  we see about 1/3, 25% currently to date have gone

         18  through Save Haven have been veterans but there have

         19  been times when its been as many as 2/3 of the

         20  people in the Safe Havens have been veterans, and

         21  so, that may be our best number so far.  It's a good

         22  question because it's an important new resource for

         23  people living on the streets to have direct access

         24  to, we're 19 now, we'll be at 160 in April, we'll be

         25  around 500 by this time next year.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I really

          3  appreciate that answer and I just want to put you on

          4  notice in a good way that we obviously have budget

          5  hearings coming up and I'm just going to keep asking

          6  these questions for the next two years nine months

          7  about how we're using prevention, how we're using

          8  Safe Havens, everything that is a better alternative

          9  to shelter and I think if we're all doing our work

         10  right, those numbers, the prevention numbers, the

         11  Safe Haven numbers will keep growing, the shelter

         12  numbers will keep going down and if you think about

         13  the amount we're putting into shelter, the cost and

         14  we redirect it properly we're talking about a huge

         15  impact on a lot of people with these other methods.

         16                 Lastly, just tell us all, what do you

         17  think your current supply of permanent housing is

         18  for you to really achieve this goal of getting every

         19  veteran out of shelter, as we should. How much

         20  permanent housing do you have open units available

         21  to you now?  How much is coming online?  We want to

         22  get a sense of how realistic it is to keep placing

         23  folks and what it's going to take if we don't have

         24  enough planned on currently.

         25                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I think there's a
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          2  couple parts to that answer and again, we're going

          3  to let the task force do their work, we'll see the

          4  recommendations, the Mayor and the Secretary will

          5  review them and then we'll roll them out.  All that

          6  said, I think the point you made earlier is the

          7  right point.  We're spending more for shelter than

          8  we'll need to spend for permanent housing, and so,

          9  we will be in a position, our hope is at the end of

         10  the work of the task force, that we will be in a

         11  position to redirect some of the dollars from

         12  shelter to permanent housing and so, through that

         13  resource we should be able to develop some

         14  additional availability of permanent housing.  Now,

         15  in some cases, that may mean housing subsidies, in

         16  other cases it may mean other things, we'll see.

         17  Again, we don't want to presume where the task force

         18  is going to take us, but, at the end of the day, we

         19  as a City should be able to pull back some of the

         20  money we're spending on shelter, reinvest it in

         21  permanent housing for veterans, and the VA should be

         22  able to provide the support, so those dollars should

         23  go much further than they currently do.

         24  Notwithstanding any of that, veterans will continue

         25  to have access to New York, New York 1 and 2 and 3
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          2  units, they'll continue to have access to our

          3  Shelter Plus Care portfolio, they'll continue to

          4  have access to other kinds of permanent SROs and

          5  supportive housing across the City and we will

          6  continue to do our best to see that they access to a

          7  variety of housing options based on a priority

          8  basis.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I'm just going

         10  to say quick, what is your total number you have

         11  now, though, in the way of permanent units?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I don't know that

         13  I can give you a good answer.  We will get you a

         14  good number.  I think you have to consider that the

         15  housing resources are funded through our department,

         16  you have to consider the housing resources are

         17  funded through the McKinney applications and on and

         18  on and on.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: All right.  I

         20  don't mean to interrupt, just because I know other

         21  people have questions, I just want to say, for our

         22  budget hearing, I think we'd like to hear how many

         23  units you have available to you, permanent units you

         24  have available to you, currently, how many are

         25  coming on line in the near term, to get a sense of
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          2  how you are going to currently address this crisis

          3  and then, what your vision might be for redirecting

          4  resources to create more units.  We have to get

          5  numerical.  Thank you very much Commissioner and

          6  thank you Mr. Chairperson.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          8  very much.  We're going to hear a very brief

          9  question from Council Member Nelson followed by Tom

         10  White and then I'm going to...

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I'm just very

         12  happy to hear about the efforts and your dedication

         13  for this.  I was curious about something because I

         14  learned today that there are decoys, which is

         15  interesting.  Are they throughout all five Boroughs?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Can you tell

         18  the amount that there are out there?

         19                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Don't know.  And

         20  part of that  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I don't mean

         22  where they're located.

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: No, it's

         24  intentional.  The decoy part of our count is

         25  conducted by Columbia University.  And so, we don't
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          2  want the details associated with that.  What we want

          3  to know is how many of the decoys we find at the end

          4  of the day.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: It's the

          6  control group.

          7                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Right.  It's the

          8  control group and there is a distance between us and

          9  them.  They're independent.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Because I've

         11  always wondered. They come up with a count and how

         12  the hell do you get a count.  How do you really know

         13  unless you go through every street?  But the control

         14  group at least plays a strong role in that.  You

         15  wouldn't know how many decoys they found last time

         16  as opposed to how many there were?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS: No.  I ask that

         18  question every day and sooner or later somebody is

         19  going to give me an answer but they don't want to

         20  tell me until we're ready to announce it, I'm

         21  afraid.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: As long as

         23  they don't give away the location, the corner of

         24  DeKalb and Atlantic or something. The amount they

         25  could give us.  And the amount that they found.  I
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          2  found it fascinating.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HESS: The only location

          4  I know for sure is where my daughter was.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, thank

          6  you, thank you, Commissioner.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Council

          8  Member Tom White.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you Mr.

         10  Chairperson. Commissioner, you have three intake

         11  points: In the Bronx, Queens and Brooklyn.  Where do

         12  you have them at in those locations?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HESS: For women.  We

         14   --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: That's just for

         16  women?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS: They're just for

         18  women.  The central intake point for men is at 30th

         19  Street in Manhattan.  The actual locations are

         20  Franklin, Jamaica and  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Come to the

         22  front and identify yourself.

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We'll get you the

         24  exact locations.

         25                 MR. HERWITZ: Hello again.  Mark
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          2  Herwitz.  I'm Deputy Commissioner for Adult

          3  Services.  The three intake points for women are

          4  Franklin Avenue in the Bronx, Williams Street in

          5  Brooklyn and Jamaica Shelter in Queens.  I don't

          6  have the exact street address of that, it's on our

          7  website.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Are you talking

          9  about the Armory?

         10                 MR. HERWITZ: Yes, the Jamaica Armory.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: How are the

         12  members of the joint DHS and VA task force chosen?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HESS: It was less than

         14  scientific.  We sat down with Jim Forcetta and we

         15  said, who's been working on this issue, both inside

         16  of government and outside of government, we think

         17  could add value to this and we drafted the

         18  participants is basically how that worked.  Now I

         19  don't want you to think, Council Member, that in any

         20  way the group, as distinguished as they are, that we

         21  pulled together is going to be the only folks that

         22  have an opportunity to influence the work of the

         23  task force and so we're actually going to be holding

         24  very shortly a number of focus groups with veterans

         25  who may be our clients to be able to better inform
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          2  the work of the task force and, frankly, before the

          3  task force even started I held two town meetings at

          4  Board and Veterans Shelter to kind of elicit

          5  information from the men living there before we

          6  moved forward with this.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.  I met

          8  Forcetta many years ago.  Okay.  We can talk about

          9  that at a later time, because I think that

         10  experience, you know, I learned in Grad School, you

         11  know, there's a little cliche, you know, I would

         12  tell you what was wrong with me if I thought you

         13  gave a damn.  So, you know, when you take a look at

         14  a group as well intended as they may be, the

         15  composition, the people who it effects, I think

         16  should have somewhat of an input, and you probably

         17  do have some vets in there.

         18                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I think that

         20  gentleman that you highlight in your testimony

         21  should have been a part of that group who went

         22  through all of those days and have all of those

         23  experiences.

         24                 COMMISSIONER HESS: He's an expert.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes.  Okay.
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          2  Now, the other thing was, where does the task force

          3  meet at?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I think its been

          5  meeting between the, the first task force meeting

          6  was held at Common Ground, the Times Square Hotel.

          7  I think there have been a number of workgroups that

          8  have met, some at DHS, some at the VA, I think the

          9  next full task force meeting will be at the VA.  So,

         10  we've been a little bit back and forth.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.  Just a

         12  little bit for me, I'm a former member of the 101st

         13  Airborne Division under the command of General

         14  Westmoreland, who is deceased and I recall when I

         15  first went into the service, there was a contest

         16  that was issued in the Stars and Stripes and the

         17  title, you never forget when you're really into

         18  something, the title of it was, "What Does It Mean

         19  to be a Part of America's Powerful Peace?" And you

         20  had to write an essay on that title.  And I'm very

         21  proud to say that since the Stars and Stripes is for

         22  all of the Armed Services, that I came in first for

         23  that contest.  And I was given some recognition by

         24  the late General Westmoreland.

         25                 There's a campus near my district,
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          2  St. Alban's Campus, as a matter of fact, and they

          3  have a lot of acreage there, and they've been having

          4  meetings concerning that and one of the things, and

          5  it's being done by Price Waterhouse, is the

          6  consideration of the veterans doesn't seem to appear

          7  as the number one priority and it should be.  When

          8  the issue of the concern for the veterans was not

          9  mentioned, and people want schools, they want

         10  condos, they want all kinds of stuff and they want

         11  to give, and this is just for the task force's

         12  information, and including the City, they want to

         13  give leases 77 years to developers to develop that

         14  land and the priority of the veterans is last.  And

         15  I really think you should take that message back,

         16  that if you really want to do, if the task force, if

         17  you want to do some planning, some of that property,

         18  yes, there's a long term care facility on there,

         19  they want to take down the current hospital and they

         20  want to build some other facility off to the right

         21  and you've got an enormous amount of land, some of

         22  which could be used for veterans.  I don't know

         23  whether or not that has, I'm bringing this up to the

         24  two chairs because I attend those meetings and I

         25  have staff that attend those meetings and the focus
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          2  doesn't appear to have the importance of putting

          3  aside or allotting Veteran Administration property

          4  towards the veterans who served this country and if

          5  that hasn't come to the task force, then there's a

          6  little kink in there that should be addressed, but

          7  I'm quite sure you'll address it because you and I

          8  have sat down and we've had some good, meaningful

          9  meetings and I know you're a man of your word.

         10                 I just wanted to put that on the

         11  record and I just wanted to stand up for those

         12  veterans because my father, too, was a veteran and

         13  he had the GI Bill, and I'm a veteran.  And you know

         14  what, I don't think, and it amazes me, why we don't

         15  know that there are some countries that don't

         16  respect us.  It's like anything else. If you don't

         17  take care of home, ain't nobody going to respect you

         18  for trying to take care of them.  We need to start

         19  taking care of home as best we can.  As best we can.

         20    If people can even feel the effort, like the kids

         21  say, "do you feel me?"  Our veterans have to feel us

         22  and feel that effort and we have to understand, they

         23  are not in the same caliber as the average American

         24  citizen because they have stepped outside the box

         25  and have fought for this country and have seen
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          2  things and felt things that no other human being in

          3  this country will ever see and that's part of a

          4  situation that they have to, to some degree, be

          5  helped with.  Because you get discharged, I recall

          6  when you get discharged there was a program that the

          7  readjustment to the civilian way of life.  You know,

          8  you gotta have those things, you know.  When people

          9  retire from civil service, the wife tell him, "don't

         10  come home, go get a job somewhere" because he's

         11  going to come home and try to run the house.

         12                 I'm trying to add a little levity to

         13  it, but it's serious.  And the thing about it is,

         14  what you said about having rights and resource

         15  assistance, I think we should have because when I

         16  look at what's going on now and the reserve is being

         17  used, they do not have the same privileges as a

         18  regular army person, so, what do you do?  You use

         19  the reservists with no benefits to fight a war and

         20  then when they come home or many if they're

         21  fortunate to get home, so I know I'm speaking

         22  because I feel this and I believe it. What little I

         23  can do, I will do, but the problem is much greater

         24  than me and I just think that we can't deal with our

         25  veterans as though they just went off to work one
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          2  day and decided to come back home and their wife

          3  then left then, their kids grew up, we owe, not that

          4  we should give, we owe the individuals that went to

          5  protect the American way of life here in this

          6  country.  Thank you Mr. Chair.  I have another

          7  meeting upstairs, so that's why I wanted to go

          8  first.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I just wanted

         10  to say thank you.  First of all, Tom, I wanted to

         11  say I didn't know you were also a veteran.  I guess

         12  we were all surprised and somewhat moved by your

         13  statement.  I want to acknowledge Council Member

         14  Gale Brewer and before Council Member White leaves,

         15  I am extremely happy that he raised this issue.  The

         16  last official hearing of the Committee was at St.

         17  Albans. We toured the facility with representatives

         18  of the administration.  In fact, many of our

         19  veterans organizations have raised concerns that it

         20  appears more of a land grab by some than providing

         21  benefits to those who deserve them.  We have limited

         22  input on what the Federal government does, we're a

         23  municipal government.  But to the extent that now we

         24  have an opportunity with land that could be turned

         25  over and used by local government, it probably would
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          2  be a perfect location to provide for some permanent

          3  housing for our veterans that deserve it.  I think

          4  that perhaps some of the veterans groups have also

          5  raised concerns about the process.  Maybe what we're

          6  contemplating now is having a hearing in Queens

          7  specifically on development plans for that VA

          8  property and I look forward to working with you,

          9  Tom, on this and having your leadership and your

         10  input being from that part of Queens to work with

         11  us.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Whatever you

         13  say, Mr. Chairperson.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         15  Tom.  I'm going, I think we acknowledged Council

         16  Member Gale Brewer's here?  Gale, thank you for

         17  joining us.  I have a few more questions.  Let me

         18  just remind the audience that if there's anyone who

         19  wants to testify, you must fill out one of these

         20  cards and you must see the Sergeant at Arms at the

         21  rear of the room.

         22                 Commissioner, I want to be very

         23  appreciative, I know you're a very busy man and you

         24  head a very big and important Agency.  Thank you for

         25  providing us with your time.  A lot has been said
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          2  about the 100 vets program.  I want to shift gears a

          3  little, towards our women, because it appears, at

          4  least from what I've learned, that the 100 vets

          5  program didn't include women, if that's the case, I

          6  don't know if that's the case but, I want to ask

          7  about that and see how we're dealing with the issue

          8  of homelessness among our women veterans.

          9                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We should be

         10  serving all veterans equally.  With respect to the

         11  70 veterans that have been placed so far, they have

         12  all been men.  To the extent of the 30 still to

         13  come, and hopefully even more than that, I don't

         14  know the gender composition of those folks.  All I

         15  know is at the end of the day, we're going to move

         16  veterans.  We're not going to differentiate between

         17  male and female veterans.  We want to serve all

         18  veterans.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I believe the

         20  question begs another question.  Do we have a

         21  breakdown of that 700 somewhat self- identified

         22  veterans in the system today are male and how many

         23  are female.

         24                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I'm told that 98%

         25  of the veterans who self- reported are male and 2%
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          2  are female.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.  The

          4  next question I have regarding the 100 vets program.

          5  In your testimony you outlined that they're being

          6  moved to permanent housing.  I'd like you to clarify

          7  that a little more for me.  One of the concerns that

          8  have been raised by some to myself is that many of

          9  them are being moved to SROs.  Is that the case?  Is

         10  it not?  Maybe you could go into a little more

         11  detail.

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Certainly some

         13  have been moved to SROs, it's one of the housing

         14  options that we have at our disposal. I will tell

         15  you that of the 70 veterans that have been moved so

         16  far, 37, or 53%, have moved into what we call

         17  independent living, which can include SROs. 9 or 13%

         18  have actually been reunited with their family, which

         19  is an outcome that we're very excited about.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: What was the

         21  percentage of that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HESS: 13% or 9 of the 70

         23  have reunited with family.  19, or 27% have moved

         24  into supportive housing,  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: What does
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          2  that mean, supportive housing?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HESS: It's like New York

          4  New York 1 or 2 or 3 housing where they're moving

          5  into a rent subsidized unit with a level of social

          6  service support that's appropriate for whatever the

          7  issues are.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.

          9                 COMMISSIONER HESS: And the balance

         10  of, I guess it's 5, moved into homebound 1- 3, HSP 1

         11  and a rental assistance program 1  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: And those

         13  programs are basically, I would imagine they're just

         14  basically an apartment and they're living on their

         15  own and they're independent.  That's 5% of them.

         16                 COMMISSIONER HESS: That's 1 HSP, 1

         17  rental assistance program, 3 homeward bound is back

         18  to family in a former community.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.  And

         20  the Section 8 vouchers, explain to us again what the

         21  criteria is to qualify for those vouchers under this

         22  program.

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Well, there's no

         24  direct access anywhere in our system for anybody to

         25  receive a Section 8 who is currently in the shelter
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          2  system or who enters the shelter system. There is no

          3  priority for anyone to receive a Section 8 from our

          4  shelter system; however, we do have limited access

          5  to Section 8 as a priority for people who are not in

          6  our shelter system but as a preventative measure,

          7  visit one of our community based prevention programs

          8  that we call homebase.

          9                 So, if you're in the community,

         10  you're at risk of homelessness, you go to homebase,

         11  an assessment is done, you could ultimately receive

         12  a priority for Section 8.  If you enter the shelter

         13  system or you're in the shelter system, you will not

         14  get a priority for a Section 8.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Even if

         16  you're a vet?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS: That's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That was my

         19  next question. The permanent allotment of Section 8,

         20  there is no permanent allotment of Section 8 for

         21  veterans, is that what you're testifying?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HESS: That's correct.

         23  Specifically for veterans?  That's is correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Is there a

         25  priority for veterans?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HESS: There is not a

          3  specific veterans priority that I am aware of.  We'd

          4  have to check that with NYCHA but not that I'm aware

          5  of.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to

          7  jump in, Mr. Chairman. On the veterans reunited with

          8  families, were those all in the five Boroughs or

          9  were some of those reunifications outside?

         10                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I believe the nine

         11  were in the five Boroughs and three Homeward Bound

         12  would have been outside the five Boroughs.  Is that

         13  right?  Yes.  I got one right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Three Homeward

         15  Bound were outside.  And are you generally tracking

         16  with family reunifications for any homeless folks

         17  how many are in the City and how many are outside?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Well, we look at

         19  all housing options.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, but do you

         21  track how many end up being reunified with family or

         22  other situations outside the City in general?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you have a

         25  sense of what that rate is typically?  For your
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          2  general homeless population?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Relatively small.

          4  But we can get that for you specifically.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do you, we

          6  have some veterans and we try to get them houses.

          7  Sometimes, you know, they have issues regarding past

          8  credit, etc.  Is that something that you work on in

          9  terms of, because sometimes you can't get Section 8

         10  housing if you have issues like that.  How do you

         11  address those?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS: A couple of ways,

         13  Council Member. First, with respect to veterans, the

         14  task force focus has figured out how we can move

         15  people into permanent housing and pull some of the

         16  City dollars back from paying for shelter and

         17  reinvest in permanent housing and have the VA pick

         18  up a lot of these kind of services.  And so, working

         19  on credit is one.  With veterans, sometimes it's

         20  working on upgrading discharges.  Not all veterans

         21  that have bad discharges necessarily earned those

         22  bad discharges and so we go back and take a look at

         23  those things as well.  Our objective, over time,

         24  through the task force work, is to see exactly which

         25  of these services the VA may be able to support us
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          2  on so that we can redirect our dollars into

          3  permanent housing.  But credit, you're quite right,

          4  is often an issue.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So right now,

          6  who is addressing these issues?  Is this what the

          7  task force is going to figure out who's going to

          8  address?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HESS: That's right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Because up to

         11  now it hasn't been addressed?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Well, I think it

         13  is being addressed by individual providers, at the

         14  moment.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But not across

         16  the board?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Not across the

         18  board.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.  I

         20  don't think we have any more questions for you,

         21  Commissioner.  Let me just restate our appreciation

         22  for your participation today.  And, I'd like you to

         23  keep in mind, also, as a request with respect to St.

         24  Alban's, different ideas and options we might be

         25  able to come up with because I'm going to be
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          2  pursuing this issue with several of the veterans

          3  groups, bringing more attention to this.  There's

          4  acres and acres of land, which obviously in New York

          5  City is very scarce to have this much property and

          6  when we have an opportunity to do something that

          7  provides for our veterans, so many times they're

          8  shortchanged, we should look for innovative ways to

          9  provide and reach those challenges.  So, I'd like

         10  you to keep that in mind. I'll do a little follow up

         11  with your office.

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS: And we'll look

         13  forward to that. I know that we took copious notes

         14  over here and probably there's research being done

         15  on St. Alban's before this hearing concludes.

         16  There's probably already started the research.  It's

         17  an opportunity and any time there's excess Federal

         18  property, as you know, one of the priority uses

         19  through GSA has to be homeless use and so we will

         20  take a close look at that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I would like

         22  that it, unfortunately I've been hearing about a lot

         23  of different kinds of uses, very little having to do

         24  with the veterans, so, we really need to deal with

         25  that.  And I want to say just thank you again for
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          2  your participation.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair, thank you Chair DeBlasio, members of the

          5  joint Committee, it's certainly been our honor to be

          6  with you this afternoon.  We look forward to

          7  continuing this dialogue until there are no veterans

          8  left on our streets or in our shelter systems.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         11  I'm going to be inviting up next Pat Toro from

         12  Vietnam Veterans of America; Dan Rossi, one of our

         13  veteran activists; and we also have a Wilbur Weder,

         14  Wilbur?  Weder?  Why don't you come on up, please.

         15                 As of right now, we don't have any

         16  other speakers so after these three if someone else

         17  wants to speak, please fill out a card.  We're going

         18  to start with Mr. Toro.  Please, for all the

         19  panelists, give us identification, your name,

         20  organization affiliation, if any, and please present

         21  your testimony.  Everyone has a two minute limit on

         22  your testimony.  Sergeant at Arms?  Okay. We'll keep

         23  it as close as we can.  I was never too good at

         24  counting, Pat, so don't worry.

         25                 MR. TORO: My name is Pat Toro.  I'm
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          2  President of the Vietnam Veterans of America, Queens

          3  Chapter 32 in Queens.  This is the second hearing

          4  that I have attended where DHS has been present. The

          5  last time the Commissioner wasn't here, he had some

          6  of his representatives.  I looked forward to the

          7  time when I was going to hear from the Commissioner.

          8    Unfortunately, what I heard from the Commissioner,

          9  is the same is what I heard from his

         10  representatives. There was no stats, no figures

         11  Even though they told us at the last hearing, which

         12  was held in City Council chambers, that they would

         13  provide the stats.

         14                 Now, I respect the Commissioner

         15  because he is a veteran, as I do all veterans, but I

         16  have problems with a lot of things that he said and

         17  that's one of the reasons why I don't come here with

         18  a prepared statement to hand out or whatever because

         19  I find that when I used to do that, by the time I

         20  got to speak all my thoughts had changed and I wound

         21  up speaking from the hip, anyway. And anybody who

         22  knows me, knows that's usually what I do.

         23                 I want to commend, even though he's

         24  not here, Council Member White, because he brought

         25  up the St. Alban's issue. St. Alban's issue is very,
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          2  very dangerous issue.  I've attended several

          3  meetings with that.  I'm on Congressman Meeks task

          4  force, I am not in with the community because they

          5  don't like my theory about it and my theory is,

          6  there's 55 acres in St. Alban's that belongs to the

          7  veterans.  I see no reason why we should have to

          8  give up 25 or 30 acres back to the community.  That

          9  was one of the issues, I mean, when we attended the

         10  CARES hearings, anybody who knows, and I'm not going

         11  to talk on St. Alban's that long because that's not

         12  what this is about, but anybody who knows the

         13  situation with St. Alban's is one of the hospitals

         14  that was in danger of being closed and the VA came

         15  back and said, no, we're going to renovate it.  They

         16  never said they were going to give away property.

         17  But at the last hearing at St. Alban's, which I

         18  believe was January 22, that's exactly what they

         19  said.  They said that they need to re- lease the

         20  land in order to get the monies to finish the

         21  renovations.  And to that I say that's a lot of BS

         22  because we need the room.  We asked for a hospice

         23  facility, we asked for an assisted living facility,

         24  we asked for a women's dorm.  What we got was two

         25  buildings with less beds for the dorm for men, no
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          2  womens dorm, no assisted living, no hospice.  But

          3  the promise that 25 to 30 acres would be leased away

          4  to the community.  And the community is hanging

          5  around like vultures waiting for it.  Now I attended

          6  that hearing  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I'm just

          8  going to interrupt your testimony.  When you say,

          9   "what we got" who proposed that?

         10                 MR. TORO: What?  The reuse?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Right.  Who

         12  proposed  --

         13                 MR. TORO: It came out of the VA.

         14  What they're saying is that the way they planned to

         15  design it, that whole new installation is going to

         16  go right next to the New York State Nursing Home, if

         17  you're coming from the Main Entrance it's going to

         18  be to the right.  There's several buildings that

         19  aren't being used and they're going to be knocked

         20  down.  They're actually going to put the dormicilary

         21  (sic) over the nursing area.  They're reason for

         22  that they said was that they'll have a real nice

         23  view of the park.

         24                 The point that I brought up to them

         25  was that if you take the 25 or 30 acres that's left
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          2  over, give us what we want, build a park there, then

          3  it doesn't matter where you are in St. Albans,

          4  you'll have a nice view of a veteran's park that's

          5  owned by the veterans.  And that seems to be the big

          6  problem.

          7                 I think the final insult in that

          8  whole night was when we had, and I believe it was

          9  Council Member Comrie who made a statement to the

         10  effect that "there's a funeral home right on the

         11  outskirts of that installation at St. Alban's who's

         12  looking for easement rights so he can build a

         13  parking lot for his funeral home."  I don't know

         14  about any of the people here, but people I've spoken

         15  to, I'll be damned if I'm going to sit back and give

         16  easement rights for a parking lot and we can't get a

         17  hospice facility or assisted living or a women's

         18  dorm.  And that was the final straw on that evening.

         19                 But to get back on the homeless

         20  issue.  When that hearing, and the Chairperson knows

         21  because I reached out to his office, when I found

         22  out about that press conference that the Mayor held

         23  right before Christmas, I was quite surprised, I was

         24  quite surprised: A. Because the Mayor has done

         25  nothing for veterans in the whole time he's been in
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          2  that Administration and I have no problem saying

          3  that but I was also surprised that none of the

          4  elected officials from that area who always see

          5  Borden Avenue were invited.  Council Member Eric

          6  Gioia knew nothing about it. Assembly member Kathy

          7  Nolan, very big in the Borden area, knew nothing

          8  about it.  Not only that, most of the veterans

          9  organizations knew nothing about it.

         10                 And what I did, and it just so

         11  happened that the National President of the Vietnam

         12  Veterans of America, John Rowan, who is the founding

         13  President of my chapter, was here in New York and we

         14  went on site to Borden Avenue and if it wasn't that

         15  we had bumped into a Deputy Commissioner of DHS, who

         16  asked us if we were coming in and we said, "no, we

         17  weren't invited."  Well, you can come in with us.

         18  And we went in or we wouldn't have known what was

         19  going on.

         20                 My understanding is that the

         21  Chairperson was invited at the last minute.  Some of

         22  the Agencies dealing with the homeless veterans were

         23  invited at the last minute.  And if you went inside

         24  and you sat there and watched the Mayor talked along

         25  with VA Secretary Nicholson, you saw that most of
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          2  the reporters in the front row who asked the

          3  questions, were the normal reporters, and if I

          4  didn't know better, I'd swear they already had the

          5  questions written down.  But, you didn't hear that

          6  from me.

          7                 The problem is, that, when you speak

          8  about a census, why weren't the veterans

          9  organizations invited to participate in this census?

         10    Okay?  I don't know about anybody here, but

         11  speaking as a veteran, if you come up to me and say,

         12   "I'm a veteran" I'm going to talk to you a whole

         13  lot sooner than anybody else.  I don't care if it's

         14  about sports, I don't care if it's about my homeless

         15  situation, I don't care what it is.  For the simple

         16  reason is, when you say "I'm a veteran" you bring

         17  with you respect.  These are my brothers and

         18  sisters, yet none of these organizations, and I did

         19  a check, were invited to participate in this census.

         20    Okay.  And after listening to the Commissioner

         21  speak, and again, no disrespect meant to him, okay,

         22  how long does it take to ask a homeless person, "Are

         23  you a vet?"  Okay?  Are they going to be walking

         24  around with their DD2- 14s in their pocket?

         25  Probably not.  But you know what? At least it gives
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          2  you an area where you can concentrate on and try to

          3  find out the information.  And we've been after this

          4  for a long time.  Borden Avenue was brought about

          5  with the influence of my chapter.  Before I was in

          6  the chapter, but years ago.  We were influential in

          7  getting that Borden Avenue residence started.  Yet,

          8  we're not invited to any of the meetings.  Okay.  I

          9  called around, I even spoke to the Mayor's Office of

         10  Veterans Affairs, Clarece Joines, who was quite

         11  annoyed at me over the fact that I insinuated that

         12  she kept us out of the loop.  It's totally, totally

         13  irresponsible.  But we should have, I'm pretty sure

         14  that a lot of the veterans organizations, and I

         15  speak for my chapter because we are the number one

         16  veterans organization in Queens, all right, we would

         17  have gladly participated in that census and we would

         18  have no problem saying, "I'm a veteran."  If I wore

         19  the jacket that I wore now, I wouldn't even have to

         20  ask that question, but I'd get the answers and I'd

         21  get the information that I'd need to properly

         22  conduct a census.  Saying that there's self-

         23  reported 700 and I forgot 74 veterans, okay, is

         24  ridiculous.  And again, we had no stats from DHS.

         25                 Now, I really would like a copy of
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          2  that survey that they use.  I haven't seen one.

          3  I've tried to get one before, no one's been able to

          4  supply me with one.  That task force that they put

          5  together, it was just, I guess I'm being a little

          6  sarcastic, but it was just overflowing with veterans

          7  organizations.  Okay.  I saw a few.  I know some of

          8  them are from the homeless, the guys that deal with

          9  the homeless on a regular basis and I commend them

         10  for that, but that doesn't mean you don't put other

         11  veterans organizations on that task force.  Again,

         12  it's like St. Albans. Where do they get the stats to

         13  give Price Waterhouse but from the VA?  And we all

         14  know as veterans that the VA can be counted on some

         15  of the most exact stats ever submitted and that is,

         16  I am being facetious and sarcastic in that comment.

         17                 This is crazy.  This is a continuing

         18  battle that we have as a veterans organization.

         19  It's a continuing battle we have with the Mayor.

         20  I've submitted a letter to the Mayor, basically

         21  saying, "Not for nothing, but three years ago you

         22  signed a bill into law authorizing the POW/MIA flag

         23  to fly over the City parks. And I testified in front

         24  of the City Council in support of that bill, I spoke

         25  to the Mayor afterwards, thanking him for that bill
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          2  but I had a conversation with the Mayor right after

          3  he signed it where he said, quote "He always felt

          4  that the Vietnam veterans got screwed."  And you

          5  know what?  We did.  And he's still doing it, only

          6  now he's stretched it out to the veterans.  I really

          7  am embarrassed to have to say that, but it's the

          8  truth.  And basically, when I sent him the letter, I

          9  basically said, you know what?  You want support

         10  from veterans?  It's more than waving a little white

         11  flag in a parade and walking ten or fifteen blocks.

         12                 But going back to what Commissioner

         13  Hess was talking about, nobody does more for vets

         14  than veterans, that's basically what it comes down

         15  to.  So if you want information from veterans, you

         16  get veterans.  And you put them in that spot.  Now

         17  most of you here have also sat in on the meetings

         18  that we've had about the Veterans Resource Centers

         19  that we're trying to get started in the City, which

         20  the Mayor has chosen not to include in his budget.

         21  Anybody who goes back at least as far as I can

         22  remember, back to Lindsey and that know, we used to

         23  have them veteran centers back then.  And they

         24  worked.  And then over the course of time, for

         25  budgetary reasons, we lost them.  And we're trying
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          2  to bring them back, we need them back, the veterans

          3  who are coming out of the military now have no idea

          4  what's going on, and I'm getting inundated with

          5  calls about where can I do this, where can I get

          6  that, whatever.  If we have a resource center,

          7  everybody can go to one set and should have all the

          8  answers right there.  Especially when the Mayor

          9  stands there and says we have a, what is it, a five

         10  billion dollar surplus.  You can take a few thousand

         11  for that and let us get our resource center started.

         12                 Again, going back to St. Albans real

         13  quick, and then I don't want to speak too much

         14  longer.  The room is there, as a veteran, as a

         15  veteran advocate, as chapter President, I'm fully

         16  aware when they talked about closing some of the

         17  military installations that Fort Hamilton's name

         18  kept coming up.  But I'm not a total idiot when I

         19  realize that one of the reasons its been kept open

         20  is to provide housing for homeland security.  I

         21  appreciate the fact that homeland security needs

         22  housing, but you know what, homeland security

         23  wouldn't be where they are without the veterans, and

         24  we need the housing.  So if they can build and

         25  afford Hamilton, they can build it on the 25 or 30
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          2  acres that they're looking to lease on St. Albans.

          3  I understand that the community has some issues, I

          4  understand that the community, certain things they

          5  would like to do there, but again, when I pick up

          6  the paper and I realized that Mayor Bloomberg jumped

          7  on the bandwagon to have a school built on the

          8  property at St. Albans but I didn't hear him jumping

          9  on any kind of bandwagon and say, you know what, why

         10  don't we put some homes there for the homeless.

         11  That's all I have to say.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         13  very much, Pat. We're going to hear from the next

         14  panelist.

         15                 MR. ROSSI: Yes, hi.  My name is Dan

         16  Rossi.  I work with the disabled veteran vendors.

         17  I'm not going to be cynical about anything that was

         18  said today.  I hope for the best and just doing what

         19  they've done so far is monumental compared to the

         20  past. They never did anything before and what I want

         21  to do is target everything I'm saying at this task

         22  force, which are here, I hope.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Let me just

         24  say for the record that the Mayor always has his

         25  ears in these hearings. That's a good thing.
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          2                 MR. ROSSI: What I want to go about is

          3  on prevention. Once a person falls into

          4  homelessness, it shouldn't have happened to begin

          5  with but, there's a million reasons why people fall

          6  into homelessness.  Once they are homeless and once

          7  we do find a residence for them to get them back to

          8  work.

          9                 I just go by experience I had with

         10  some of the organizations in the last six months.  I

         11  went to the VA with a couple of vending

         12  entrepreneurs and they wanted to hire veterans to

         13  work carts.  We sat down with two very nice people

         14  from the VA and we told them we were going to put

         15  people to work tomorrow.  Okay, it was a nice chat,

         16  and I went ahead and told them my history as a

         17  manufacturer of equipment and things and I'd like to

         18  hire people, start a shop and hire people and what

         19  information could you give me on programs for

         20  veterans that need jobs, homeless veterans, and they

         21  said there were programs that they had, and we sat

         22  there for an hour and I asked at least three times

         23  for information and I left there with nothing.  Not

         24  only did I leave there with nothing but the men who

         25  came with me were never contacted with anybody to go
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          2  to work.  That was number one.

          3                 A few weeks ago, Council Member

          4  Monserrate introduced a bill to set up an outreach

          5  center in each Borough and there was a young lady

          6  from another organization that does exactly the same

          7  thing, or they say they did they same thing down on

          8  32 Broadway and they target only combat vets.  So, I

          9  don't say they're not doing their job.  I went down

         10  there to see if they could come up with something.

         11  I walked in, I was buzzed into the office, nice

         12  office.  Five or six men working there, girls and

         13  men working.  I sat down and I sat there for 1/2

         14  hour.  Each one of the said, "Hi, how are you."

         15  None of them asked me what I was doing there, none

         16  of them wanted to talk to me, they walked in their

         17  room and shut the door.  My whole point to this is,

         18  whatever is out there now is not working.  It

         19  doesn't work.  And I wouldn't say it just because

         20  I'm motivated toward something else, towards getting

         21  these outreach centers.

         22                 The VA doesn't work.  And whatever

         23  organizations are out there now, it doesn't work.

         24  So, you're outreach center is going to have to sit

         25  down with the Council and consider what we want to
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          2  do, because it's not only taking an individual and

          3  putting him in a one- room occupancy and giving him,

          4  what you're basically doing is giving him one room

          5  shelter for the rest of his life if you're not

          6  giving him the opportunity to go to work.  And to

          7  help the poor kids coming back now, from falling

          8  into homelessness because the tide is turning, the

          9  attitude towards our veterans now, over in Iraq is

         10  turning.  People are not demonstrating against the

         11  government, they're demonstrating against the

         12  military.  The same thing, if this goes on another

         13  three or four years, that happened to us as Vietnam

         14  Vets is going to happen to these poor kids, and so,

         15  your task force, you sit down with your Commissioner

         16  Hess, and you say, "Listen, one of the things we

         17  have to do is we have to take what we have now and

         18  combine it?  Or take what we have now and shelve it

         19  and start with something else.  Well, what you have

         20  now doesn't work."

         21                 Hopefully, what I just said made a

         22  little sense. Don't be surprised if I'm not out

         23  there homeless tomorrow, posing as homeless, to see

         24  if you're counting me.  What I'm trying to say is,

         25  what I hear and what is usually said, this is not
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          2  only on the part of the administration.  I've had

          3  dealings with the Council. Only very little bit

          4  really is true and if you're going to get people to

          5  help these veterans, get people who care about the

          6  veterans.  Don't just hire kids and say, you know,

          7  this is your job.  Get vets that are hurt, that have

          8  come back from it, older guys, not kids, older guys

          9  that know what it's about.  They're the ones you

         10  want out there to be doing the counting and doing

         11  the helping.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         13  very much.  Let me tell you, I appreciate your

         14  testimony and I'd like to do some follow-up with you

         15  regarding that center because we had also gotten

         16  some other reports about what they actually really

         17  do and what they don't.  And just for the record I

         18  don't think, you and I look extremely well fed to be

         19  decoys, so I don't know if that's going to work.

         20  So, please sir, Mr. Weder.

         21                 MR. WEDER: Is this on?  My name is

         22  Wilbur Weder. I'm a veteran.  I am an advocate for

         23  healthcare and veterans issues working pretty much

         24  with other Council Members.  Council Member Rosie

         25  Mendez and her staff member John Fout helped when I
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          2  asked them if we could raise the issue about

          3  counting the homeless when I was told by DHS that

          4  they could not do that.  So I appreciate all of you

          5  who signed on to that letter to the Commissioner

          6  Hess.

          7                 What I want to speak about  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: The record,

          9  the letter was signed by myself, Council Member

         10  Rosie Mendez, and twenty seven other members of the

         11  body.

         12                 MR. WEDER: Yes, they sent me a copy.

         13  I appreciate it very much.  And thank you.

         14                 What I want to do, I actually hadn't

         15  planned to speak today but after listening to

         16  Commissioner Hess, I wanted to address the issue

         17  that he brought up about point of entry.  That we

         18  can't wait until they come into the shelter system

         19  as a point of entry to get services and I would like

         20  to propose something that I have discussed with John

         21  Fout and Rosie.  That is, that we need to look at

         22  the whole paradigm of what we have in terms of a

         23  veteran going from job and going into active duty

         24  then coming back home, being discharged, and quite

         25  frankly, the end result, is homelessness for a lot
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          2  of these veterans.  How do we get to that end

          3  result, though?

          4                 We need to determine the causality

          5  here as to what happens in the course of that

          6  decline from the time the person is drafted into

          7  active duty, to when they come back out of active

          8  duty, after serving maybe two or three tours of duty

          9  overseas, and then, what happens from the time they

         10  are discharged?  I don't think if you look at just

         11  the homeless issue, if you look just at the current

         12  end result that you can determine how best to help

         13  our veterans.

         14                 So, the point of entry, as

         15  Commissioner Hess suggested, needs to be changed.

         16  But I think the first point of entry should be at

         17  the point that these veterans are discharged from

         18  the military and a lot of them maybe don't exhibit

         19  any signs of illness, any signs of any mental

         20  illness in particular, but later on they will.  How

         21  do they get help from the time they're discharged to

         22  prevent them becoming homeless?

         23                 I have not heard that addressed.  It

         24  seems to me that this Committee and this task force

         25  should be asking that question.  I'm glad that
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          2  Commissioner Hess brought it up, but I didn't hear

          3  anything addressing it.  So I would simply ask you

          4  to think about that as a paradigm because all of

          5  these people from what I understand, when they're

          6  called into active duty, they have a job, they have

          7  a family perhaps, they have a home, how do they end

          8  up in this horrible decline and slide into

          9  homelessness?  And that is my question that I would

         10  like to have answered.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Well thank

         12  you very much for your testimony.  And as you know

         13  that, for the last two years I have been

         14  spearheading a, an initiative here in the Council to

         15  fund resource centers throughout the City

         16  specifically with the understanding that if we can

         17  get many of these returning vets early enough, we

         18  could probably prevent a host of social problems

         19  that they confront.  Unfortunately, if you ask the

         20  average vet about what the current Veterans

         21  Administration actually really provides on a local

         22  basis, it's really not, they don't get good reviews.

         23                 MR. WEDER: Well, I did spend three

         24  years fighting to save the VA hospital on 23rd

         25  Street.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: We all took

          3  part of that, that's for sure.

          4                 MR. WEDER: I understand the

          5  seriousness.  And unfortunately, the VA doesn't come

          6  in and intervene soon enough, because you wait

          7  around for months to get an appointment to get help,

          8  and that's not right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Right.  So,

         10  hopefully, this initiative, and I hope to someday

         11  very soon be able to say that the Mayor is working

         12  with us on it and we're going to do something

         13  innovative and different in our City.  So, I look

         14  forward to hearing that announcement.  But thank you

         15  very much for your testimony and we're going to ask

         16  Mr. Louis Vazquez to come up, the last two panelists

         17  for today.  Veterans in Positive Action and Peter

         18  Bronson from the Coalition of Veterans in Pain and

         19  Distress.

         20                 Mr. Bronson.

         21                 MR. VAZQUEZ: How you doing Members of

         22  the Board.  My name is Luis Vazquez and I'm a

         23  Persian Gulf veteran of the first Persian Gulf War.

         24  Basically, I just have a statement.  I represent

         25  VIPA, Veterans in Positive Action out of Kingsbridge
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          2  VA.  My main concern, obviously, is our veteran's

          3  health and jobs.  I was a representative of

          4  Mastermind Real Estate, which is owned and operated

          5  by my family and we're stationed in the Bronx.  My

          6  thing is, we have property, and we could put up

          7  buildings for the homeless vets, but it's just the

          8  red tape of getting the funds and the Committees

          9  that we represent, supposedly, to get together to

         10  accomplish these tasks, because the bottom line is,

         11  it takes money. I'm not here to, you know, I'm just

         12  being straight up forward.  If we want to do all of

         13  these for our veterans, then we need to get the job

         14  done.  And that's basically all I have to say.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: No, thank you

         17  for your testimony.  We hear you loud and clear.

         18  Please, sir.

         19                 MR. BRONSON: My name is Peter Bronson

         20  and I'm the Legislative Chair of the Coalition of

         21  Veterans in Pain and Distress.  I'm also a Past

         22  President of Veterans for Peace New York City

         23  Chapter.  We've been active in the fight to keep the

         24  veterans hospitals open and the issue that Mr. Weder

         25  just raised is the one --   thank the members of the

                                                            83

          1  VETERANS AND GENERAL WELFARE COMMITTEES

          2  Committee for listening  --  but there's a tendency

          3  after you hear people speak to want to go off in a

          4  dozen different direction because all the points are

          5  important. So it's hard for me to try to contain

          6  myself but the issue that he just raised about what

          7  can be done.

          8                 A lot of the problems that we're

          9  facing with homelessness and the need for the

         10  resource centers are created, when we talk to people

         11  like you in the City Council, you say, but we're

         12  with you but we can't do anything about it, it's the

         13  Federal government.  And, what's happening is the

         14  veterans resource centers that are provided by the

         15  Federal government are limited to veterans who have

         16  combat MOSs, who, Mr. Hess used the word "eligible"

         17  veterans.  What the VA has done for the last 30

         18  years is honed the word eligibility so they rule out

         19  a large number of veterans, and those are the ones

         20  that we're talking about.  They're the ones that

         21  live under the bridge abutments and live around New

         22  York, that cook their food in the cold on a sewer

         23  grating, their the ones we're reaching out to.

         24                 We feel, when you go into the

         25  service, the government spends a great deal of money
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          2  to train you to be a killer.  When you come out, the

          3  New York Time doesn't have ads for "trained killers

          4  wanted."  There are no jobs for many of the veterans

          5  coming out, because many of them came from schools

          6  that don't graduate most of their students.  So how

          7  do we expect somebody coming from the school where

          8  they got an inadequate education to come out of the

          9  service and become useful members of society?

         10                 The TAP Program, the Transitional

         11  Adjustment Program, which is the program that the

         12  DOD has when you get separated, when I came back

         13  from overseas, they said, "Would you like to go home

         14  or would you like to go for counseling for a few

         15  days?"  Well, I didn't want to go for counseling.  I

         16  wanted to go home.  So, that's the end of the

         17  transitional adjustment program. You don't realize

         18  it until the post- traumatic stress or other issues,

         19  psychological issues settle in and by then you're

         20  ten, 12, 15, 20 years later.  So, the government has

         21  to have a program of re- adjustment which Mr. White

         22  spoke about.  There has to be a transitional

         23  adjustment program.  Now, you in the City Council

         24  can't provide that, but what you can provide is City

         25  run resource centers that would not rule out
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          2  veterans who didn't serve in combat.  For example,

          3  people like Jessica Lynch, who were on transport.

          4  They didn't have combat MOSs.  If they got wounded

          5  in a fire fight, they wouldn't be eligible for the

          6  same benefits that a veteran who was an infantryman

          7  or a artilleryman would be eligible for.  It was

          8  supposed to be in combat.  So if we had these

          9  veterans centers in the City, they would pick up the

         10  ineligible veterans, that's who we're talking about,

         11  not the eligible ones, they would take the

         12  ineligible ones and direct them to services. Those

         13  are the centers we're looking to provide when we're

         14  asking the Mayor to set aside $5 million so these,

         15  at least three, Boroughs to have a center.

         16                 Now, just as an aside, they spent $8

         17  million to float, I'm a Navy veteran, they spent $8

         18  million to float the Intrepid to dry dock so they

         19  could fix it up.  If you can spend $8 million to

         20  float the Intrepid away, you can't spend $5 million

         21  on veteran centers?

         22                 And one last thing.  I was very upset

         23  at St. Albans.  I was with Pat Toro.  We were sick

         24  at St. Albans.  The issue that was presented by the

         25  VA there is something called EUL- Enhanced, I forget
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          2  the word, leasing.  Enhanced.  What it involves is,

          3  the government is saying they can't afford to fix

          4  the VA hospital.  They have to lease the land to

          5  developers, who, the money that they get from

          6  developers will pay for the fixing of the hospital.

          7  It's the same thing with these other programs.  The

          8  government that spends $8 million a day fighting a

          9  war in Iraq has the money to set aside for that.

         10  They also have the money to provide for the people

         11  who are doing the fighting when they come back.  And

         12  I really think this should drive home the point that

         13  not only this manipulation of the veterans hospital

         14  is just avoiding putting our money where it should

         15  be, that it should be funded by the government and

         16  not private industry, it's part of this whole

         17  attempt to privatize many things that this past

         18  administration has concentrated on and not focus on

         19  the needs and I think we need the veterans centers

         20  to help right that, to make it correct.

         21                 Thanks for your time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         23  very much.  I think Council Member Brewer has a

         24  question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I do have a
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          2  question.  Is that okay.  Two questions.  One is: My

          3  husband's a vet from Vietnam, so I hear about a lot

          4  of these issues.  But my question first is, when you

          5  say that the VA rules out many veterans, is it

          6  possible that the legislation could be changed with

          7  a new Congress to say that they need to work with a

          8  broader group of people?  In other words, rather

          9  than the VA determining who their clientele is, why

         10  can't Congress?  Is that something that could be

         11  looked at in any way?

         12                 MR. BRONSON: I can't speak to that,

         13  because I'm further from the Federal government, I

         14  think, than you are.  I think the Agencies, like the

         15  Veterans Administration, pretty much, Secretary

         16  Nicholson pretty much makes his own decisions and by

         17  the time we get to that, I think the resources would

         18  be better spent for us to start locally to pick up

         19  and deal with our situation here because we

         20  contributed, our schools that were inadequate led to

         21  a lot of these people coming back the way they did,

         22  so I think we have a responsibility locally to do

         23  that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I think, I

         25  tell you, I'm one of these people who thinks that
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          2  the Federal government should be much more

          3  supportive of New York, so maybe we could do it but

          4  with their money.  That would be my preference.

          5                 The second issue I have, having

          6  worked for the City of New York in Washington, as

          7  Council Member DeBlasio did at one point, it's my

          8  impression and I could be wrong, and it was eluded

          9  to earlier by the Commissioner, that any land that

         10  the Federal government gives up has to first be

         11  offered for homeless services. Period.  And so I

         12  think that that's something that folks should look

         13  at.  Any federal land that, this is a fact, that the

         14  government, the federal government, is getting rid

         15  of, has to first be offered to those who need

         16  homeless services.  That could be housing, it could

         17  be some stretch.  But I don't know if that piece of

         18  paper has been signed off on that it's not needed

         19  for homeless services.  We've had that situation

         20  several times.  I'm sure the neighborhood may not

         21  want that, but I can tell you that that is the law,

         22  so that's another thing to look at and then you

         23  could stretch what you define as homeless services.

         24  Maybe that could also be permanent housing.

         25                 MR. BRONSON: Well, I'd like your
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          2  help.  Again, the Council Members.  If you could

          3  attend, I'll be away on vacation on Tuesday but

          4  Congressman Meeks is having a meeting in Queens

          5  regarding the use of St. Albans and if you were all

          6  there you would counteract.  I had to share the same

          7  feelings that Pat Toro did.  If you were there, it

          8  was unbelievable what we were giving up and the fact

          9  Mr. Philips from the Philips Funeral Home sat in the

         10  audience looking for easement to park his funeral

         11  cars on the vet's, on the campus of St. Albans.  I

         12  think people, Council People, should attend just to

         13  show, Tuesday night, I'm not sure where it is.  But

         14  the reason for your attending is, we were faced, we

         15  couldn't even speak because public officials,

         16  elected officials spoke all evening and from Comrie

         17  to many of the State legislators, it was all geared,

         18  even people from the community, groups from the

         19  community had their veteran members with their

         20  little veteran hats come, but they weren't speaking

         21  for us, they were speaking for the uses that the

         22  community had to divide this land.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I would look

         24  very carefully at the legislation that created the

         25  land and what it can or cannot be used for.  Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 MR. BRONSON: Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I want to

          5  thank you all for participating in today's hearing

          6  and we will keep you all posted about the next

          7  hearing, possibly with the topic of St. Albans

          8  again.  Thank you very much.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 3:05 p.m.)
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